1993

Michael D. Darby v. Washington Terrace City, a political subdivision of the State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION STATEMENT

This case was originally appealed to the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to the appellate jurisdiction provisions of UCA §78-2-2(2)(j) (as amended, 1992). This case was thereafter transferred to this Court from the Supreme Court pursuant to UCA §78-2a-3(2)(k) (as amended, 1992).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR APPEAL

In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court uses the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. Higgins v. Salt Lake County, 855 P.2d 231, 233 (Utah 1993). Since a summary judgment is granted as a matter of law, the appellate court reviews the trial court's conclusions of law for their correctness without according deference to the trial

court's legal conclusions. Transamerica Cash Review, Inc. v. Dixie Power & Water, Inc., 789 P.2d 24, 27 (Utah 1990). The following issues are presented for appeal:

I

Did Washington Terrace City violate the due process guarantees within its Washington Terrace City Police Personnel Manual and thereby wrongfully discharge Darby from his employment because:

(a) The City did not timely discipline Darby within a timeframe reasonably connected to the occurrence of each rule violation allegedly committed by him,

(b) The City "warehoused" multiple unreported minor infractions committed by Darby to justify the removal action take against him,

(c) The City subjected Darby to disparate treatment in that the City has historically failed to sanction Darby and/or his professional peers for like or similar conduct or has otherwise inconsistently imposed discipline less severe than the removal penalties for like or similar conduct, and

(d) The City selected a penalty which was excessive and unreasonable measured against the disciplinary action agenda of The Manual?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a wrongful discharge from public employment case. The appellant Darby was a Washington Terrace City career status police officer at the time the city police chief recommended Darby's employment termination. Darby appealed this termination recommendation to a three member disciplinary hearing board convened under the Washington Terrace Police Personnel Manual ("The Manual"). This board affirmed the recommendation of the chief of police to discharge Darby. Darby's city employment was then terminated by the police chief. In accordance with Manual directives, Darby appealed the dismissal decision to the Washington Terrace City Council. The City Council affirmed Darby's employment termination.

This case was commenced by Darby in the Weber County District Court upon express and implied contract theories arising out of the employment relationship which had been conducted between the City and Darby under The Manual. The City's immunity from suit is waived by UCA §63-30-5(1) (1991) and governmental notice of claim requirements under UCA §63-30-5(1) (1991) are not applicable because this case is postured on contract law. The civil service commission administration provisions of UCA §10-3-1001 et.seq. (1983) do not apply to the parties because Washington Terrace City is a Utah city of the third class. UCA §10-2-301 (1987)

The City moved for summary judgment against Darby alleging that his employment conduct provided good cause grounds under The Manual to invoke disciplinary action and that the severity of this conduct warranted his dismissal consistent with Manual standards. Darby opposed the City's summary judgment motion alleging that the City had obtained his dismissal without complying with The Manual's due process safeguards.

The trial court awarded the City summary judgment and dismissed Darby's complaint ruling that the City had complied with its Manual and that removal was an appropriate penalty.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This Statement of Facts is drawn primarily from the following parts of the trial court record which are found within a bound document captioned "Plaintiff's Exhibits To His Memorandum Of Authorities Opposing Defendant's Motion For Summary Judgment":

Ex. "A" - Darby's Washington Terrace City Personnel
Records

Ex. "B" - Darby's Answers to Defendant's First Set of
Interrogatories and Darby's Replies to
Defendant's First Set of Request for Admissions
and Request for Production of Documents

Ex. "C" - Cited portions of the Washington Terrace Police
Personnel Manual

Ex. "D" - Affidavit of Michael D. Darby

These exhibits, while part of the record on appeal, have not been separately paginated.

Darby was employed by the City on October 15, 1985 as a career service status police officer under the City's personnel rules and regulations. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 1-Prsnl.Recs.) Darby was appointed to the rank of sergeant on May 14, 1990. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 17-Prsnl.Recs.) Prior to the receiving the May 14, 1990 promotion to sergeant, Darby had received four within grade merit pay step increases and received a satisfactory or above rating on all of his annual performance appraisals. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 2-16-Prsnl.Rec.)

On December 23, 1990 Darby did not report for duty at the beginning at the 1400 hour shift. (Plt's.Ex."D"at 2-Plt's.Aff. ¶7) Darby reported for duty at 0930 hours and thereafter completed a full duty shift. (Plt's.Ex."A" at 18-Prsnl.Recs, Plt's.Ex."B"at 22-23,Ans.to Ints. #15) Lt. Cope, Darby's second-level supervisor, did not then take disciplinary action except to tell Darby that he would have sent him home with pay if personnel had been available to cover Darby's shift. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 18-Prsn'l.Recs., Plt's.Ex."B"at 22-23-Ans.to Ints.#15)

Chief Tracy, Lt. Cope and Darby met on December 24, 1990 to discuss the December 23, 1990 tardiness event. No disciplinary action -- warning, suspension, discharge, demotion -- was taken at this meeting and no statements were made that any action was contemplated. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 20-Prsnl.Recs.,Ex."C"at 22-23-Plt's.Ans.to Ints.#15, Ex."D"at 2-Plt's.Aff.¶7,8) Lt. Cope thereafter prepared and delivered to Chief Tracy a December 27, 1990 "Failure to Report for Shift" memorandum recommending

disciplinary action against Darby for his tardiness on December 23, 1990. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 18-Prsnl.Recs.) This memorandum criticised Darby for the appearance of his uniform and vehicle without providing offending date(s) and why Darby's uniform appearance and vehicle were not acceptable. Darby did not receive a copy or notice of this memorandum when it was received by Chief Tracy. (Plt's.Ex."B"at 22-23-Ans.to Ints.#15,Ex."D"at 2-3-Plt's.Aff.¶7,8) No disciplinary action was taken on this memorandum when it was received by Chief Tracy. (Plt's.Ex."A"-Prsnl.Recs.,Ex."B"at 25-Ans.to Ints.#18)

On December 30, 1990, Darby did not report for duty at the beginning of his 0600 hour shift. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 19-Prsnl.Recs.Ex."D"at 2-3-Plt's.Aff.¶7) Darby reported to work at 0730 hours after Lt. Cope telephoned Darby at his home. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 19-Prsnl.Recs.) Before completing a full duty day, Darby and Cope met for coffee at which time Cope did not discipline Darby except to say once again that he would have sent Darby home if personnel had been available to cover Darby's absence. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 19-Prsnl.Recs., Ex."B"at 22-23,25-Ans.to Ints.#15,18) Lt. Cope delivered to Chief Tracy a December 30, 1990 "Failure to Report for Shift, Failure to Turn in Log and Reports" memorandum recommending Darby's demotion from his sergeant's position, a letter of reprimand, a three day suspension and a one year probation. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 19-Prsnl.Recs.) Darby did not receive a copy or notice of this memorandum when it was received by Chief Tracy. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 19-Prsnl.Recs,Plt's.Ex."D"at 2-Plt's.Aff.¶7,8, Plt's.Ex."B"at 22-23-Ans.to Ints.#15)

A December 31, 1990 meeting was held among Darby, Chief Tracy and Lt. Cope where Chief Tracy demoted Darby from his sergeant's position and placed Darby on a one year probation because of Darby's tardiness on December 23, 1990 and December 30, 1990. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 20-Prsnl.Recs.,Plt's.Ex."B"at 22-23-Ans.to Ints.#15) At this meeting, Darby saw for the first time Lt. Cope's December 27, 1990 and December 30, 1990 memorandum. (Plt's.Ex."D"at 2-3-Plt's.Aff.¶7) Darby acknowledged ongoing marital difficulties at the meeting. He further identified that the police department had been understaffed by two officers and one sergeant for which his overall work product had suffered because of the extra duty hours and duties which he had been required to assume. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 22-23-Prsnl.Recs.,Plt's.Ex."B"at 22-23-Ans.to Ints.#15) Chief Tracy did not challenge the accuracy of Darby's position and informed Darby that he had been attempting to correct the understaffing issue. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 20-Prsnl.Recs., Plt's.Ex."B"at 22-23-Ans.to Ints.#15)

To confirm what had occurred among Darby, Lt. Cope and Chief Tracy at the December 31, 1990 meeting, Darby received within this meeting a December 31, 1990 "Demotion, Pay Reduction and Two Letters of Reprimand" memorandum. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 20-Prsnl.Recs.) This writing states in material part that "if any further incidents of failure to report for a shift occur within one year you will be terminated". (Plt's.Ex. "A"at 20-Prsnl.Recs.) Darby's position at the December 31, 1990 meeting is specifically evidenced by his undated "Dismissal As Sergeant"

letter which was placed into his personnel file on January 10, 1991. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 22-23-Prsnl.Recs.)

During the mid part of January 1991, Chief Tracy additionally delivered to Darby a "Corrective Action on Job Performance" memorandum requesting that Darby:

- (a) seek professional counseling through the City's employee assistance program,

- (b) maintain his professional appearance,

- (c) maintain the appearance of his vehicle, and

- (d) timely complete required reports and assigned duties.

(Plt's.Ex."A"at 24-Prsnl.Recs.) This writing states in material part that "These requests will be followed up on by Lt. Cope and a monthly report submitted to me". (Plt's.Ex."A"at 24-Prsnl.Recs.) This corrective action memorandum drafted as a "request" does not identify that any rule violations had actually occurred and, if so, the nature and date of their occurrence. Darby's personnel records were then devoid of any such documented rule violations. (Plt's.Ex."A"-Prsnl.Recs.)

On July 14, 1991, Chief Tracy delivered to Darby a July 9, 1991 "Failure to Follow Recommendations" memorandum stating that Darby had not been:

- (a) maintaining his professional appearance,

- (b) keeping clean the interior of his police vehicle, and

- (c) continuing his employee assistance counseling.

(Plt's.Ex."A"at 25-Prsnl.Recs.) This memorandum was not based upon any documented rule violatons within Darby's personnel file or upon any discusstions which had occurred among Darby, Lt. Cope

or Chief Tracy. (Plt's.Ex."B"at 2-3-Ans.to Ints.#1) Darby had, moreover, not been presented with any thirty day non-compliance reports from Lt. Cope following Darby's receipt of Chief Tracy's January 1991 "Corrective Action on Job Performance" memorandum. (Plt's.Ex."A"-Prsnl.Recs.) Chief Tracy's memorandum did not allege that Darby had been failing to complete required reports and duty assignments. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 25-Prsnl.Recs.) Darby met personally with Chief Tracy and challenged the accuracy of the July 9, 1991 memorandum except to admit that the interior of his vehicle had been disheveled on the date inspected by Chief Tracy. (Plt's.Ex."B"at 27-29-Ans.to Ints.#21) Darby specifically identified that Chief Tracey's criticism of his uniform attire -- wearing levis -- was a practice of other officers in the police department for which disciplinary action had never been invoked. (Plt's.Ex."B"-at 27-29-Ans.to Ints.#1,21) Following Darby's July 1991 meeting with Chief Tracy, no further personnel action was taken against Darby under the July 9, 1991 "Failure to Follow Recommendations" memorandum. (Plt's.Ex."A"-Prsnl.Recs.)

Within the discribed July 1991 meeting between Darby and Chief Tracy, Darby informed Tracy for the second time that working relationships between him and Lt. Cope were poor and had been steadily deteriorating since Darby's December 1990 demotion from sergeant. (Plt's.Ex."B"at 27-29-Plt's.Ans.to Ints.#21, Plt's.Ex."D"at 3-Plt's.Aff.¶9-11) During March 1991, Darby had asked Sergeant Rhodes to intervene but Lt. Cope had refused to participate in any reconciliation effort. (Plt's.Ex."D"at 3-

Plt's.Aff.¶9,10) Darby's similar request to Chief Tracy for intervention had been ignored. (Plt's.Ex."B"at 5-6-Ans.to Ints.#1) At their July 1991 meeting, Chief Tracy refused for a second time to directly assist in the resolution of the professional difficulties ongoing between Lt. Cope and Darby. (Plt's.Ex."D"at 3-Plt's.Aff.¶10) This refusal was made notwithstanding Darby's assertion that a substantial amount of his difficulties within the department had originated from his working relationship with Lt. Cope and that no amount of Darby's attendance in the City's employee assistance program would resolve this professional friction. (Plt's.Ex."B"at 28-29-Ans.to Ints.#21, Ex."D"at 3-Plt's.Aff.¶10)

On August 1, 1991 Darby appeared ten to twelve minutes late for a scheduled 1:00 o'clock p.m. three officer panel shooting review board hearing at the City's offices. (Plt's.Ex."B"at 16-Ans.to Int.#7) Darby had scheduled the meeting as the police department armorer. One of the three officers on the panel was Sergeant Rhodes, Darby's first-level supervisor. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 26-Prsnl.Recs.) The meeting was started approximately five minutes before Darby's arrival and was completed approximately twenty minutes later. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 26-Prsnl.Recs.)

On August 2, 1991, Darby reported forty-five minutes late for his assigned duty shift. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 26,29-Prsnl.Recs., Plt's.Ex."B"at 12-13-Ans.to Ints.#5) When Darby arrived at the City's offices, he met with Lt. Cope and learned that an officer

had telephoned Lt. Cope that Darby had not reported for duty as opposed to this officer first telephoning Darby. (Plt's.Ex."B" at 12-13-Plt's.Ans.to Ints.#5) Lt. Cope agreed that the officer should have first telephoned Darby before involving Lt. Cope as a second-level supervisor. (Plt's.Ex."B"at 12-13-Ans.to Ints.#5) Lt. Cope and Darby then took a coffee break where nothing else was mentioned or said about the tardiness event. (Plt's.Ex."B" at 12-15-Ans.to Ints.#5) Specifically, neither Chief Tracy nor Lt. Cope informed Darby that this tardiness had or would invoke the employment termination admonition contained within Chief Tracy's December 31, 1990 "Demotion, Pay Reduction and Two Letters of Written Reprimand" memorandum. (Plt's.Ex."D"at 2-3-Plt's.Aff.¶5-7)

On August 7, 1991, Darby did not appear at his scheduled morning time for a department ordered police officers' shooting qualification. (Plt's.Ex."B"at 16-Ans.to Ints.#8). August 7, 1991 was a scheduled off duty day for Darby and he overslept his morning shooting assignment. He was notified by dispatch and attended the shooting qualification that same day with one of the scheduled afternoon groups. (Plt's.Ex."B"at 16-Ans.to Ints.#8) Darby was not notified by any superior officer that this conduct would be enforced as a violation of personnel rules and regulations. (Plt's.Ex."B"at 16-Ans.to Ints.#8)

Darby reported forty-three minutes late for his August 18, 1991 assigned 0600 hours duty shift. (Plt's.Ex."B"at 19,20-Rply. to Adms.J) Chief Tracy Delivered to Darby an August 21, 1991 "Failure to Take Corrective Action on Your Performance" letter

which identifies thirteen rule violations allegedly committed by Darby under The Manual from mid-July 1991 through mid-August 1991. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 26-28-Prsnl.Recs.) The four occasions when Darby reported late for duty within the first eighteen days of August 1991 are included within this August 21, 1991 letter. Chief Tracy's letter was Darby's first notice that disciplinary action was being considered against him for any or all of the alleged thirteen rule violations. (Plt's.Ex."B"at 12-13,16,22-23,25-Ans.to Ints. #5,8,15,21) Darby delivered to Tracy his August 28, 1991 "Reply to Letter of August 21, 1991 on My Job Performance" letter by which he responded to each of the alleged thirteen rule violations. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 29-32-Prsnl.Recs.) Darby acknowledged that he did not report to duty when scheduled for each of the four August 1991 work assignment dates. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 29,32-Prsnl.Recs.)

Tracy thereafter delivered to Darby on September 3, 1991, a letter within which Tracy concluded that Darby had committed nine rule violations under the The Manual and that the cumulative affect of these violations compelled him to recommend Darby's employment termination. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 33,35-Prsnl.Recs.) The four days that Darby reported late for scheduled assignments during August 1991 comprised four of the nine rule violations used by Tracy. (Plt's.Ex."A",supra.)

Within his September 3, 1991 employment termination letter, Tracy identified for Darby the disciplinary penalty which

each rule violation warranted under The Manual. (Plt's.Ex."A", supra.-Prsnl.Recs.) The four cited instances of "unauthorized tardiness" were assessed by Tracy as follows;

(a) August 1, 1991 shooting review board -- ten to twelve minutes late -- "a letter of written reprimand". (Plt's.Ex."A" at 33-Prsnl.Recs.),

(b) August 2, 1991 -- reported forty-five minutes late for work -- "3 days without pay a letter of reprimand". (Plt's.Ex."A" at 33-Prsnl.Recs.),

(c) August 7, 1991 shooting qualification meet -- qualified with an afternoon group rather than at his scheduled morning time -- no specific discipline imposed. (Plt's.Ex."A" at 34-Prsnl.Recs.), and

(d) August 18, 1991 -- reported forty-three minutes late for work "letter of written reprimand and 3 days off with pay". (Plt's.Ex."A" at 35-Prsnl.Recs.)

The City's summary judgment motion is not based upon all of the nine rule violations advanced by Chief Tracy. Rather, the defendant's summary judgment motion isolates four instances under The Manual's rule violation category of "unauthorized absenteeism, tardiness" and three instances under The Manual's rule violation category of "persistently refusing to obey" a superior officer to argue that it had sufficient reason to fire Darby. The four cited instances of "unauthorized absenteeism, tardiness" are the four occasions that Darby appeared late for

scheduled duty assignments during August 1991. The three instances cited for "persistently refusing to obey" are based upon three separate investigations which Darby had been conducting within the June 1991 through August 1991 timeframe. (Plt's.Ex."A"at 36-Prsnl.Recs.)

The trial court awarded summary judgment to the City and dismissed Darby's complaint upon the limited basis that the four occasions during August 1991 when Darby reported late for scheduled duty assignments, coupled with the two days during December 1990 that he had reported late for work, were sufficient to sustain his employment termination under The Manual. (Brief App.--June 16, 1993 Bench Ruling & September 3, 1993 Order of Dismissal) The trial court's considerations did not reach whether Darby had been insubordinate by Manual definition, within any of the three occasions cited by the City within its summary judgment motion. (Brief App.-supra.) The trial court found that these circumstances were the object of material factual dispute whereas the four events of reported tardiness were not. (Brief App.-June 16, 1993 Bench Ruling)

SUMMARY OF LEGAL ARGUMENT

The sole issue on appeal is whether the trial court correctly awarded summary judgment to the City on the basis that Darby reported late for scheduled duty assignments on four separate occasions during the first eighteen days of August 1991 when further considered with the two days that Darby had been

disciplined for reporting late to work on December 23 and 30, 1990. The trial record is without dispute that Darby was tardy on each occasion cited by the City.

The four incidents of tardiness relied upon by the City occurred on August 1, 1991, August 2, 1991, August 7, 1991 and August 18, 1991. Chief Tracy's August 21, 1991 "Failure to Take Corrective Action on Your Job Performance" letter provided Darby with his first notice that disciplinary action against him was contemplated for any or all of the four cited events. Using this letter as the marking date for the commencement of disciplinary action against Darby, the following delays occurred from each rule violation date:

August 1, 1991 -- twenty day delay

August 2, 1991 -- nineteen day delay

August 7, 1991 -- fourteen day delay

August 18, 1991 -- three day delay

The Manual provides:

B. Timely: Discipline should be administered as soon after the need for action is discovered and confirmed as due process will allow. Speedy due process and action increases the effectiveness of the discipline. (Plt's.Ex."C"at 11-The Manual)

The Manual further provides:

Code of Conduct

1-19 Supervisors Acquiescence Relating to Misconduct of Members

A. A superior officer cannot use several minor infractions of a subordinate as justification for a major disciplinary action if no reported action has been taken in the past for the violation of the minor infraction. (Plt's.Ex."C"at 29-The Manual)

The due process safeguards within The Manual provide for the mitigation of disciplinary sanctions as the result of lax or sporadic rule enforcement with the following language:

6. Lax Enforcement of Rules

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