1993

# Michael D. Darby v. Washington Terrace City, a political subdivision of the State of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

In Point I of its Argument, the City explains that the authorities cited by Darby in his brief are not accepted Utah Law. Rather, Utah law indicates that municipalities' interpretations of their employment manuals should be deferentially reviewed by trial courts. For the purpose of clarity, the City will not constantly weave this deferential standard into its arguments made throughout its brief. Rather, the City will analyze Darby's termination neutrally under Berube v. Fashion Center Ltd., which case and its progeny have been accepted by Utah courts as guidance for wrongful termination cases in the private sector.

In Point II of its brief, the City explains that Darby was properly dismissed as a police officer for the "less serious offense" of consistently failing to report for work on time and for the "serious offense" of persistently refusing to follow the instructions of a superior officer. With respect to the former reason, it is undisputed that the City warned Darby, after he reported late for two shifts in December of 1990, that he would be terminated if he were late for his shift within the next year. In August of 1991, Darby was late for several of his assigned shifts. As a result, and pursuant to his warning eight months earlier, Darby was terminated from his employment with the City.

Darby was also properly terminated for the "serious offense" of persistently refusing to obey the orders of his superior officers. Beginning in June of 1990, Darby was given at least three assignments that he failed to follow through on, despite persistent requests for his superior officers to do so. As a result of those failures, Darby was dismissed, pursuant to the Manual, for the "serious offense" for persistently refusing to obey a superior officer, which allows the City to terminate Darby without prior warning.

Finally, In Point III of its brief, the City explains that, under Utah Law, the City's findings of fact concerning Darby's violations of the Manual's provisions are entitled to deferential review by a trial court. Under Russell v. Ogden Union Railway & Depot Co., 122 Utah 107, 247 P.2d 257 (Utah 1952), the City need not prove that Darby, in fact, failed to follow his superior officers' orders. Rather, the City need only prove that it had substantial evidence from which it reasonably concluded that such conduct had occurred. The trial court's job, therefore, is to determine whether the City acted reasonably in relying on substantial evidence in making its decision to terminate Darby. Failing some evidence of pretext, Officer Darby cannot reargue the veracity of such facts before the trial court and, accordingly, such facts could reasonably support his termination as a police officer.

## ARGUMENT

POINT I: THE CASES AND AUTHORITIES CITED BY DARBY AT THE BEGINNING OF HIS BRIEF DO NOT ACCURATELY REFLECT CURRENT UTAH LAW. IN FACT, UTAH LAW INDICATES THAT MUNICIPALITIES' INTERPRETATIONS OF THEIR EMPLOYMENT MANUALS SHOULD BE DEFERENTIALLY REVIEWED BY TRIAL COURTS.

In his brief, Darby sets forth various principles which he alleges govern the Personnel Manual at issue in this case. Because Darby's claims were plainly deficient even under ordinary contract principles, the City assumed for purposes of its motion for summary judgment that the Manual constituted a contract between the City and Darby. For purposes of clarity, however, certain misperceptions in Darby's preamble should be noted.

First, Darby's assertions overlook the fact that he has offered no evidence as to how the Manual came into effect, whether it was formally adopted, which department(s) it was intended to govern, etc. Absent such evidence, Darby's claim that the manual is "binding" on the city has no support.

Darby's citation to case law from other jurisdictions also ignores the special rules governing Darby's employment (and termination) as a police officer in a third-class city. Under Utah law, members of police departments in cities of the third class are not governed by the state classified civil service program. See Utah Code Ann. § 10-3-1001, et seq. Washington Terrace City is a

city of the third class, as it has a population of less than 60,000. See Utah Code Ann. § 10-2-301.

Utah Code Annotated, Section 10-3-1105, provides: "All appointive officers and employees of municipalities, other than members of the police departments, fire departments, heads of departments, and superintendents, shall hold their employment without limitation of time, being subject to discharge or dismissal only as hereinafter provided." This Court and the Utah Supreme Court have construed that provision as not allowing an appeal (or judicial review) of the merits of a discharge from an excepted position. Ward v. Richfield City, 798 P.2d 757 (Utah 1990), affirming Ward v. Richfield City, 776 P.2d 93 (Utah Ct. App. 1989).

In Ward, this Court and the Utah Supreme Court affirmed summary judgment in favor of the defendant Richfield City, which had dismissed the plaintiff as the city chief of police. Referring to Section 10-3-1105, the Utah Supreme Court noted that, as the head of a department, the plaintiff had no right to appeal his discharge. See Ward, 798 P.2d at 759. The same conclusion would be required for Darby, a "member[] of [a] police department," also an expressly exempted position under Section 10-3-1105.

This Court also held in Ward that because the mayor and city council had the authority to appoint the plaintiff to the position of chief of police, the same body had the inherent authority to

dismiss him from that position without a hearing, notice, or cause. See Ward, 776 P.2d at 96. The Court noted that "[w]hen an individual is appointed by an official 'the office is held during the pleasure of the authority making the appointment, and ... no notice or charges or hearings are required for the suspension or removal by the authority appointing the officer.'" Id. (citation omitted). The statute upon which the Court relied currently provides:

In cities of the third class and towns, the chief of police or marshal shall exercise and perform such duties as may be prescribed by the governing body. The chief of police or marshal shall be under the direction, control and supervision of the mayor. The chief of police or marshal may with the consent of the mayor, appoint assistants to the chief of police or marshal.

Utah Code Ann. § 10-3-918 [formerly 10-3-916] (emphasis provided).

Under this Court's analysis in Ward, the fact that the Washington Terrace police chief had the statutory authority to appoint subordinates necessarily granted him the authority to discharge the same subordinates without notice, hearing or cause. The chief's inherent authority to appoint and dismiss cannot be restricted by a city's adoption of a general personnel manual. In Hutchison v. Cartwright, 692 P.2d 772 (Utah 1984), a sheriff fired one of his deputies for alleged misconduct during a deposition. The Utah Supreme Court upheld summary judgment for the county on a

wrongful discharge suit brought by the deputy. Among other holdings, the court reaffirmed that the statutory authority to appoint necessarily includes the power to dismiss without notice or hearings. See Hutchison, 692 P.2d at 773-74. The appellant, however, argued that "[t]he sheriff voluntarily limited his authority by adopting the Beaver County Personnel Policy as the internal policy of the sheriff's department." See id. at 774. The Supreme Court rejected that theory, stating there was no evidence

that the county's policies and procedures were adopted and ratified either formally or informally by the sheriff as binding on his department in all cases. Nor is there anything in the records suggesting that any county ordinance adopted by the Beaver County commissioners made the policy applicable to the sheriff's department. The mere utilization of part of a county procedure by the sheriff in one particular instance cannot be equated by adoption of the entire policy of which that procedure is a part. Under such circumstances, we cannot say that the sheriff has relinquished his power to summarily discharge.

Id.

The Hutchison court's conclusion that county commissioners could not unilaterally restrict the sheriff's inherent authority to appoint and dismiss deputies applies with equal force in this case, where the police chief was statutorily empowered to appoint subordinates. The Manual in this case does not include any language indicating an intent to override the inherent authority to

appoint and dismiss certain positions in certain departments.<sup>1</sup>

In addition to its silence regarding the special principles governing police officers in cities of the third class, Darby's brief fails to recognize the widely held principle that deference is given to the interpretation of a municipal ordinance by those charged with administering it. See Texas National Theaters, Inc. v. City of Albuquerque, 97 N.M. 282, 639 P.2d 569, 573 (1982); Fisher v. City of Gresham, 69 Or.App. 411, 685 P.2d 486, 489 (1984); Eastlake Community Council v. City of Seattle, 64 Wash.App. 273, 823 P.2d 1132 (1992), review denied, 119 Wash.2d 1005, 832 P.2d 488 (1992). Courts generally refuse to

intrude into or interfere with the discretionary functions or the policies of other departments of government. Accordingly, the courts will not so interfere with the actions of a city council unless its action is outside of its authority or is so wholly discordant to reason and justice that its action must be deemed capricious and arbitrary and thus in violation of the complainant's rights.

Triangle Oil, Inc. v. North Salt Lake Corp., 609 P.2d 1338, 1340 (Utah 1980). A "reasonable latitude of judgment and discretion is essential" for local governments to exercise their express and

---

<sup>1</sup> It is doubtful whether a personnel manual purporting to restrict such statutory authority could be valid. A city may not attempt to enact ordinances conflicting with state statutory provisions. See State v. Hutchinson, 624 P.2d 1116, 1121 (Utah 1980); Hutchinson v. Cartwright, 692 P.2d 772 (Utah 1984).

implied powers. State v. Hutchinson, 624 P.2d 1116, 1124 (Utah 1980).

To sustain a claim arising out of the City's selection and interpretation of its own personnel manual, a claimant must overcome the presumption of reasonableness and deference given to the City's implementation of that function. In this case, Darby's claims were plainly deficient even under ordinary contract principles. Consequently, the district court was not asked to apply the special rules which ordinarily would apply in light of Darby's position as a police officer in a third-class city. The court found that no genuine issue of material fact existed, and that the City was entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. For the reasons set forth below, this Court should affirm.

POINT II: OFFICER DARBY WAS PROPERLY TERMINATED  
FROM HIS EMPLOYMENT WITH THE WASHINGTON  
TERRACE POLICE DEPARTMENT.

Under Utah law, assuming that Darby was not an at-will employee, and assuming public employees are subject to at least the same laws as private employees, Darby could be terminated from his employment by the Washington Terrace Police Chief pursuant to the terms of his employment contract. See Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033, 1044-46, 1050 (Utah 1989). An employee's employment contract can consist of any representation made to the employee concerning the terms of his or her employment as contained

in personnel manuals. See id. In this case, Darby's discharge comports with the guidelines set forth in the Washington Terrace Police Personnel Manual. See Exhibit "C" to Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment (hereinafter "the Manual") (This document is attached to the Record on Appeal but is not separately paginated).

The Manual, under the section governing "Personnel Discipline Procedures" provides:

Grounds for discipline. A peace officer holding a permanent appointment may be demoted, reduced in pay, suspended, or discharged, for:

- a. Neglect of duty;
- b. Disobedience of a reasonable order;
- c. Misconduct;
- d. Inefficiency or inability to satisfactorily perform assigned duties. . . .

See Manual at p. 18. Additionally, the Manual also provides factors for evaluating the penalties for each offense. See id. at page 13. The Manual provides that a member of the police force may be "discharged" without warning for any "serious offense" committed by the police officer. Id. The Manual defines "serious offenses" as "stealing, striking supervisor, harming others or property, persistently refusing to obey, and illegal conduct." Id. (Emphasis added). For "less serious offenses," which the Manual does not

define, the penalties include imposition of progressive disciplinary procedures. Id. However, such progressive discipline procedures can result ultimately in "discharge" of the police officer. Id.

A. Officer Darby Was Properly Discharged From His Employment Based Upon His "Less Serious Offenses" of Consistently Failing to Report for Work on Time.

As indicated above, police officers may be discharged for "less serious offenses" provided that progressive discipline first take place with respect to those offenses. As indicated in the Statement of Facts, Officer Darby reported late for two different shifts on December 23, 1990 and December 30, 1990. See R. 20, paragraph 20, and R. 21, paragraph 6. As a result of those two failures to report for his shift on time, Officer Darby was reprimanded and warned that a similar failure within one year's time could result in his termination. See R. 21 at paragraph 8. From August 1, 1991 through August 18, 1991, Officer Darby was again late for several of his shifts. See R. 22, paragraph 14, and R. 23, paragraph 21. Those failures to report for his shift, together with his prior reprimand and warning, properly supported his dismissal.

1. The Manual does not mandate that discipline take place immediately after the violation has occurred. However, assuming the Manual does

mandate timely discipline, Darby's dismissal complied with the Manual's advisory language.

In Point 1 of his Brief, styled "Timely Discipline," Darby argues that the City did not timely discipline him following the four occasions on which he reported late for duty during August of 1991. See Appellant's Brief, Point I, Pages 21-23. Apparently, Darby believes that he should have been terminated immediately after any one of the four tardy incidences rather than on August 21, 1991. Darby's alleged support for that argument is based on the personnel discipline procedures found in the Manual. See Brief of Appellant at Page 23. Darby, however, has misquoted the provision which he relies upon in making this argument to read: "Discipline shall be administered as soon after the need for action is discovered and confirmed as due process will allow." See id. (Emphasis added). That provision, however, actually reads that "Discipline should be administered as soon after the need for action is discovered and as due process will allow." See Manual at page 11, paragraph D (emphasis added). Therefore, the Manual's language is advisory, not mandatory. See Thurston v. Box Elder County, 835 P.2d 165, 169 (Utah 1992).

Assuming, arguendo, that the Manual does require "timely" discipline, the undisputed facts indicate that Darby was timely disciplined. Darby has acknowledged that on December 31, 1990, he was reprimanded, demoted, and placed on a one-year probation with

the warning that if there were "any further incidents of failure to report within one-year, you will be terminated." See R. 121, paragraph 10. Darby also has admitted that "any one of the cited August 1991 violations could sustain Darby's dismissal without further warning." R. 137. Three days after his August 18, failure to timely report for work, Darby was issued a "failure to take corrective action" memorandum by Chief Tracy which served as a basis for his termination on September 3. See R.49, R.63. Therefore, Darby was timely disciplined for his repeated tardiness pursuant to the prior warning and the one-year probation.

2. The City did not "warehouse" unrecorded violations to support its termination of Darby.

In Point 2 of his Brief, Darby alleges that "a necessary consequence of the City's failure to timely discipline Darby for his tardiness during August 1991 was that unrecorded violations accrued under the Manual." See Brief of Appellant, page 23. As such, according to Darby, that failure to timely enforce discipline against Darby "resulted in Manual defined supervisor acquiescence for Darby's tardiness on August 1, 2 and 7, 1991." See id. To support his argument, Darby relies on Section 1-19 of the Manual which states:

A superior officer cannot use several minor infractions of a subordinate as justification for a major disciplinary action if no recorded

action has been taken in the past for the violation of the minor infractions.

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